FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/30/2023 4:12 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102036-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals, Division II No. 55737-1

THE CHURCH OF THE DIVINE EARTH

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF TACOMA,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW BY WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

Richard B. Sanders, WSBA No. 2813 Carolyn A. Lake, WSBA No. 13980 Attorneys for Petitioner Goodstein Law Group PLLC 501 South G Street Tacoma, WA 98405 (253) 779-4000

FACTS

[?2] On September 20, 2013, the Church submitted an application to the City to build a parsonage on property it owned. A single-family residence had previously been located on the property, but it had been demolished in 2012. City staff reviewed the permit application and placed a number of conditions on it, including, at issue here, a requirement [194 Wn.2d 135] that the Church dedicate a 30-foot-wide strip of land for right-of-way improvements to a street abutting the property. While the existing street was generally 60 feet wide in other areas, it was 30 feet wide next to the Church?s property. This lack of uniformity had existed for around 100 years.

[?3] The Church challenged the permit conditions, and the City eventually removed most of them but kept the requirement for a dedication. The Church appealed the decision to the City?s hearing examiner, and the hearing examiner granted summary judgment in favor of the City.

Page 271

[?4] The Church filed a timely appeal under LUPA, in which it challenged the hearing examiner?s decision and also sought damages under RCW 64.40.020. In addressing the propriety of the dedication, the court confined its review to the administrative record that had been before the hearing examiner and acknowledged that, in that record, the stated purpose by the City for imposing the dedication requirement was to create a uniform street. The court held that this reason was insufficient to justify the requirement and reversed the hearing examiner, invalidating the condition.

[?5] The case then proceeded to trial on the issue of damages. The court issued an order prohibiting the City from entering evidence to show the dedication was imposed for any reason



other than uniformity. However, during trial, City officials testified that the dedication was intended to address a variety of issues, including to alleviate impacts to traffic, visibility, parking, and pedestrian safety, as well as to bring the street into compliance with city codes and industry best practices. The trial court apparently considered the evidence and found that the City imposed the dedication to address increased vehicular and pedestrian traffic and related safety impacts, and to ensure adequate visibility. It then concluded (a) "[t]he City reasonably believed that the development conditions it attached to the permit had a nexus to the project and were proportional" [194 Wn.2d 136] and (b) the City "did not know and should not have reasonably known that its requirement for a dedication of right of way would be considered violative of Nollan / Dolan [1] ." Clerk?s Papers (CP) at 2408. The court denied the Church?s request for damages, and the Church appealed.

[?6] The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court, holding that "[b]ecause the City reasonably believed that it satisfied the requirements of Nollan / Dolan , it did not know and should not have known that its action was unlawful." Church of Divine Earth v. City of Tacoma, 5 Wn.App.2d 471, 494, 426 P.3d 268 (2018). The Court of Appeals also awarded attorney fees to the City. The Church petitioned this court, and we granted limited review. City of Tacoma, 192 Wn.2d 1022, 435 P.3d 285 (2019).

ISSUE

?7 1. Whether the City knew or should reasonably have known its requirement for a dedication of land was unlawful.

ANALYSIS

[?8] We should first settle what this case is not about. This is not a case challenging the constitutionality of a land use decision; the propriety of the permit condition was already resolved by the lower court and is not before us on appeal. And because the superior court invalidated the permit condition, this is not a claim

for just compensation for a taking. Instead, what we have before us is a claim for damages under RCW 64.40.020 for an attempted exaction of land through an unlawful permit condition.

[194 Wn.2d 137] [?9] RCW 64.40.020(1) allows a property owner who files an application for a permit to bring an action for damages

to obtain relief from acts of an agency which are arbitrary, capricious, unlawful, or exceed lawful authority, or relief from a failure to act within time limits established by law: PROVIDED, That the action is unlawful or in excess of lawful authority only if the final decision of the agency was made with knowledge of its unlawfulness or that it was in excess of lawful authority, or it should reasonably have been known to have been unlawful or in excess of lawful authority.

This statute does overlap to some degree with LUPA insofar as, to obtain damages under RCW 64.40.020, the land use decision must, necessarily, be invalid. But not every successful LUPA appeal will justify damages, as is expressly acknowledged in RCW 36.70C.130(2) (stating that "[a] grant of relief

Page 272

by itself may not be deemed to establish liability for monetary damages"). To establish liability for such damages under RCW 64.40.020, a plaintiff must meet a higher burden than is required in LUPA, establishing actual or constructive knowledge, or that the government entity acted in an arbitrary or capricious manner.

[?10] Our review here is limited to the question of whether the Church may obtain damages for the City?s unlawful action. As the statute indicates, the City incurs liability for an unlawful action "only if the *final decision* of the agency was made with knowledge of its unlawfulness ... or it should reasonably have been known to have been unlawful." RCW 64.40.020(1) (emphasis added). The City argued,

Page 2 of 8

136



and the trial court held, that the final decision was that of the hearing examiner. Therefore, the issue in this case is whether the City knew or should reasonably have known the hearing examiner?s decision to allow the permit condition was unlawful. The trial court appears to have based its findings of fact and conclusions of law on arguably improper, irrelevant evidence, and the Court of Appeals, in turn, applied the wrong standard in its review.

[194 Wn.2d 138] [?11] Whether the City should reasonably have known the final decision was unlawful is an issue involving related questions of both law and fact. Isla Verde Int?I Holdings, Ltd. v. City of Camas, 147 Wn.App. 454, 467, 196 P.3d 719 (2008). It requires an examination of the law, which the City is presumed to have known, see, e.g., State ex rel. Dungan v. Superior Court, 46 Wn.2d 219, 222, 279 P.2d 918 (1955), and the material facts underlying the final decision. The statute creates an objective standard, asking whether a reasonable person looking at the facts utilized in the final decision would be expected to know the decision violated established law. See, e.g., In re Forfeiture of One 1970 Chevrolet Chevelle, 166 Wn.2d 834, 841, 215 P.3d 166 (2009) (holding that while "actual knowledge" is a subjective standard, having "reason to know" is an objective standard); Cloud v. Summers, 98 Wn.App. 724, 731, 991 P.2d 1169 (1999) (recognizing the objective nature of whether a plaintiff should have known of an injury).

[?12] A permit condition for an uncompensated dedication of land is unlawful where it fails to fulfill the requirements laid out in two formative cases on unconstitutional conditions, Nollan v. California Coastal Commission, 483 U.S. 825, 107 S.Ct. 3141, 97 L.Ed.2d 677 (1987), and Dolan v. City of Tigard, 512 U.S. 374, 114 S.Ct. 2309, 129 L.Ed.2d 304 (1994). Taken together, the Nollan and Dolan cases create a framework for analyzing the constitutionality of a permit condition involving an uncompensated land dedication. First, the government must show the development will create or exacerbate an identified public problem.

Second, the government must show the proposed condition will tend to solve or alleviate the public problem. Finally, the government must show that the condition is roughly proportional to the development?s anticipated impact. In fulfilling these requirements, the government must, to some degree, quantify its findings, and cannot rely on speculation regarding the impacts or mitigation of them.

[?13] The City provided little documentation to the hearing examiner to justify its requirement for a dedication.[194 Wn.2d 139] The record contained minutes from a September 25, 2013 review panel where the Church?s permit was discussed, and a declaration from the director of planning and development services, Peter Huffman. The review panel minutes state that the Church was being required to dedicate the land "to provide consistent right-of-way widths" along the street, and 30 feet was being required "to stay consistent and provide adequate street and sidewalk area." CP at 598. Huffman?s declaration summarized the City?s reason for the dedication as "It is important to the City that the [right of way] in all City streets be uniform." CP at 127. Thus, the City?s stated reason for the dedication was to create a consistent, uniform street.

[?14] The hearing examiner?s ruling was the "final decision," and the City provided the hearing examiner only with documentation evidencing consistency and uniformity as justifications for the dedication requirement. Therefore, under RCW 64.40.020(1) the question for the superior court was whether the Church proved the City knew or should reasonably

Page 273

have known that its goal for a consistent, uniform street did not justify the permit condition under *Nollan* and *Dolan*. As noted above, despite an order from the trial court properly limiting evidence to the reasoning presented to the hearing examiner for the final decision, the court permitted City officials to testify extensively regarding other reasons the City imposed the condition. The City asserted that the dedication was imposed to address increased vehicular and

Page 3 of 8

137



pedestrian traffic from the development, and concerns about visibility and obstructions to pedestrians, as well as to meet general standards for roads. None of these reasons had been presented to the hearing examiner. Nevertheless, the court apparently considered this additional reasoning and, in its findings of fact, asserted that the Church?s parsonage would both increase and impair safety for vehicular and pedestrian traffic and that the dedication was necessary to ensure adequate visibility.

[194 Wn.2d 140] [?15] The trial court erred in permitting testimony of reasons for the dedication that had not informed the City?s final decision to impose the permit condition. Since these additional reasons did not inform the City?s final decision, the City could not use them as justification for having imposed the condition. Evidence of these other justifications was not relevant to the issue before the court, which was whether the Church proved the City knew or should reasonably have known the hearing examiner?s decision did not satisfy a Nollan and Dolan analysis. The court?s findings of fact leave no doubt that the additional evidence led the court to conclude damages were not warranted. Because the court?s findings were based on evidence not considered by the hearing examiner, they lack the necessary support and cannot justify the court?s conclusions of law. Hegwine v. Longview Fibre Co., 162 Wn.2d 340, 352-53, 172 P.3d 688 (2007) (holding that findings of fact must be supported by substantial evidence and must, in turn, justify a court?s conclusions of law).

[?16] The Court of Appeals then erred on review by applying the wrong legal standard under the statute. The court held that because the City "reasonably believed" its requirement for a dedication was lawful, "it did not know and should not have known that its action was unlawful." *Church of Divine Earth*, 5 Wn.App.2d at 494, 426 P.3d 268. But whether the City believed in the lawfulness of its actions is a subjective question and conflicts with the statutory standard of RCW 64.40.020. As discussed above, the statute requires an

objective standard, asking whether the City?s final decision "should reasonably have been known to have been unlawful." Thus, damages are not available if reasonable minds with the necessary knowledge and expertise could have concluded that the City?s decision was lawful. The City?s subjective belief that the dedication was lawful does not determine what it objectively should reasonably have known. The Court of Appeals erred in reasoning otherwise.

[194 Wn.2d 141] CONCLUSION

[?17] We reverse the Court of Appeals and remand for a new trial. On remand, the trial court should confine its review addressing the propriety of the dedication to evidence relevant to the hearing examiner?s final decision. In deciding whether damages are justified, the court must determine whether the Church proved the City knew or should reasonably have known its permit condition for a dedication of land was unlawful.

WE CONCUR: Madsen, J., Owens, J., Stephens, J., Wiggins, J., Gonzalez, J., Gordon McCloud, J.

YU, J. (dissenting)

[?18] In this case, we granted review as to whether a city should be held liable for damages in accordance with RCW 64.40.020 for initially imposing a condition on a building permit that was later deemed unlawful in an appeal brought pursuant to the Land Use Petition Act (LUPA), chapter 36.70C RCW. Because the majority omits key facts, misinterprets

Page 274

the trial court?s preliminary pretrial evidentiary ruling, and misreads the Court of Appeals opinion regarding the standard for imposing damages pursuant to RCW 64.40.020, it incorrectly declines to address the sole issue presented, and instead reverses and remands for a new trial that is entirely unnecessary.

[?19] I would hold the trial court did not err when it considered additional evidence in the

Page 4 of 8



damages proceeding beyond that presented in the separate LUPA appeal to determine whether the city reasonably should have known that its actions were unlawful. I would also hold that the Court of Appeals applied the correct legal standard for assessing liability pursuant to RCW 64.40.020, and I would affirm its holding that the city is not liable for damages in this case. I therefore respectfully dissent.

[194 Wn.2d 142] FACTUAL BACKGROUND AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

[?20] In September 2013, the Church of the Divine Earth (Church) applied for a building permit to construct a parsonage on a vacant lot that the Church had recently acquired. Clerk?s Papers (CP) at 782. After the initial review, the city of Tacoma (City) imposed a number of conditions on the building permit. *Id.* at 106. Viewed as a whole, these development conditions sought to create a safe and accessible roadway for pedestrians and visitors to the parsonage. The City also cited multiple deficiencies in the permit application that would need to be cured before the application review could continue. *Id.* at 869.

[?21] The Church did not attempt to cure the deficiencies in its application until after litigation had begun, *id.* at 879-880, opposed all the City?s conditions, and submitted a waiver request. *Id.* at 600. Despite the incomplete application, the City removed all of the conditions except for a 30-foot right-of-way dedication. *Id.* at 13. This dedication requirement was eventually reduced from 30 feet to 8 feet. *Id.* at 105. The main purpose for the right-of-way dedication was to create a uniform street, but in context, the dedication was simply one of many conditions imposed to generally improve safety and bring the neighborhood into compliance with the Tacoma Municipal Code.^[1]

[?22] The Church and the City continued to negotiate the permit application due to some confusion over whether the building would be used solely as a parsonage or would also be used for religious assembly. [2] See id. at 108. Finally, [194 Wn.2d 143] in April 2014, the

director of planning and development services sent a letter to the Church clarifying the status of the application and advising the Church of its right to seek review. *Id.* at 155-57. Shortly thereafter, the Church appealed the City?s actions to a hearing examiner, raising primarily constitutional challenges to the City?s development conditions. *Id.* at 603. After determining that the constitutional issues raised by the Church were beyond its jurisdiction, the hearing examiner granted summary judgment in favor of the City, allowing the City to impose the right-of-way dedication as a development condition. *Id.* at 9-17.

[?23] The Church then appealed the hearing examiner?s decision to the Pierce County Superior Court pursuant to LUPA. Meanwhile, in a separate proceeding, the Church alleged the City violated the Public Records Act (PRA), chapter 42.56 RCW, and brought a claim for damages pursuant to RCW 64.40.020. See id. at 220 (Stipulated Order Bifurcating LUPA Appeal from PRA & Damages Claims).

[?24] In the LUPA appeal, Judge Martin found that the City had failed to "carry its burden to prove the condition complied with the requirements" of the *Nollan / Dolan* analysis and invalidated the right-of-way dedication

Page 275

requirement. *Id.* at 275. The case before us concerns only the separate damages claim, and as noted below, the sole issue was whether the City knew or reasonably should have known the dedication was unlawful. RCW 64.40.020(1).

[194 Wn.2d 144] **[?25]** In the damages proceeding, a different judge, Judge Hogan, found that the City had, in fact, conducted a *Nollan / Dolan* analysis, cited several reasons for imposing the conditions beyond street uniformity, and concluded that the City was not liable for damages pursuant to RCW 64.40.020. CP at 2400-09.

[?26] The Court of Appeals affirmed, holding that there was substantial evidence to

Page 5 of 8



support the trial court?s findings of fact and that the trial court correctly concluded "that the City did not know and should not have known that the dedication requirement would later be found to violate Nollan / Dolan and, therefore, was unlawful." Church of Divine Earth v. City of Tacoma, 5 Wn.App.2d 471, 495, 426 P.3d 268 (2018). We granted review of one issue: "whether the City of Tacoma is liable for damages because it knew or should have known its action was unlawful." Order, Church of Divine Earth v. City of Tacoma, No. 96613-3, 192 Wn.2d 1022, 435 P.3d 285 (Wash. Mar. 6, 2019).

ANALYSIS

[?27] The only claim before us is the Church?s claim for damages pursuant to RCW 64.40.020(1), which provides,

Owners of a property interest who have filed an application for a permit have an action for damages to obtain relief from acts of an agency which are arbitrary, capricious, unlawful, or exceed lawful authority, or relief from a failure to act within time limits established by law: PROVIDED, That the action is unlawful or in excess of lawful authority only if the final decision of the agency was made with knowledge of its unlawfulness or that it was in excess of lawful authority, or it should reasonably have been known to have been unlawful or in excess of lawful authority.

(Emphasis added.) The only issue relevant to this claim on which we granted review is whether the City knew or should have known that the 8-foot right-of-way dedication would ultimately be determined to be an unlawful development [194 Wn.2d 145] condition. Yet the majority does not reach this issue and instead reverses and remands for a new trial based on perceived errors regarding the trial court?s evidentiary rulings and the Court of Appeals? alleged reliance on an incorrect legal standard. I would hold the trial court?s evidentiary rulings in the damages proceedings were within its discretion and the

Court of Appeals applied the correct legal standard to reach the correct conclusion. I would therefore affirm.

[?28] First, I agree with the majority that the hearing examiner?s decision is the final agency decision and thus the relevant point in time for reviewing whether the City knew or reasonably should have known the right-of-way dedication was unlawful. However, the majority is incorrect to hold that the trial court in the damages proceeding relied on "arguably improper, irrelevant evidence." Majority at __ - __.

[?29] While the trial court in the damages proceeding did preliminarily grant a motion to exclude evidence of reasons justifying the conditions other than street uniformity, the court ultimately allowed extensive testimony on this topic because it was relevant to determine whether the City?s actions were arbitrary or capricious. See Verbatim Report of Proceedings (Apr. 27, 2016) at 50. When City staff testified as to reasons for the conditions other than uniformity, the Church?s counsel properly did not object because allowing this testimony was entirely within the trial court?s discretion. The trial court in the LUPA appeal may have been limited to the evidence before the hearing examiner, RCW 36.70C.

Page 276

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