FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/5/2023 1:36 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102036-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE CHURCH OF THE DIVINE EARTH

Petitioner,

VS.

CITY OF TACOMA,

Respondent.

CITY OF TACOMA'S ANSWER TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW BY WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

WILLIAM C. FOSBRE, City Attorney

Barret J. Schulze
WSBA No. 45332
Attorney for Respondent/Cross-Appellant
Tacoma City Attorney's Office
747 Market Street, Suite 1120
Tacoma, Washington 98402
(253) 591-5885

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

2. Church's Arguments regarding Blair

This Court's decision in <u>Blair v. Wash. State Univ.</u>, 108 Wn.2d 558, 740 P.3d 1379 (1987), is cited to by the Church in

support of its arguments that a "civil rights case" warrants a higher fee award regardless of the form of the fee agreement. *See* Petition, 10.

Blair involved alleged sexual discrimination claims brought under the Equal Rights Amendment and the Washington Law Against Discrimination ("WLAD"). Blair, 108 Wn.2d at 560. As discussed *supra*, this Court found this is not a civil rights case; instead, this Court already definitively determined that "what we have before us is a claim for damages under RCW 64.40.020 for an attempted exaction of land through an unlawful permit condition." CP 136; also at 194 Wn.2d 132, 136, 449 P.3d 269 (2019). The Church was never deprived of its land or other civil rights; instead, the less than \$9,000 damages awarded to the Church pursuant to Chapter 64.40 RCW was awarded based on a six-month construction delay. CP 335:9-12. All the citations offered by the Church to "civil rights" cases are inapposite for this reason.

Blair did not focus on the form of a fee agreement, as the Church suggests. This Court described the issue it considered in Blair as follows:

This court has also held a trial court cannot deny an award of attorney fees simply because the party is represented by a public interest group. Fahn v. Cowlitz Cy., 95 Wn.2d 679, 685, 628 P.2d 813 (1981). The present issue of whether a court may reduce the award for the same reasons is one of first impression in Washington.

<u>Blair</u>, 108 Wn.2d at 570. Counsel for the Church was not working this case as pro bono or as a public interest group. The <u>Blair</u> case provides little to no guidance on this *Petition*, and cannot justify review in this matter under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

3. Church's Argument regarding Clausen

The Church cites this Court's decision in <u>Clausen v. Icicle</u> <u>Seafoods, Inc.</u>, 174 Wn.2d 70, 272 P.3d 827 (2012). <u>Petition</u>, 25. The holding from <u>Clausen</u> cited by the Church is that "[a]ppellate courts, however, have permitted the use of a percentage reduction in segregating fees and costs when, as here, the specifics of the case make segregating actual hours difficult."

Clausen, 174 Wn.2d at 82. The Church offers this citation to suggest that the trial court erred in disregarding the Church's PRA fee segregation. Petition, 25. There is nothing in the record that confirms the trial court "disregarded" the Church's voluntary fee segregation. The trial court did not reduce the Church's fee award based on an additional allocation of hours that the trial court determined to be spent on the PRA cause of action. Instead, as Division II confirms, the trial court "here addressed outright that it believed many hours were not reasonably expended" (Decision, 12), that the "Church pursued various unsuccessful claims" (Id.), and that "the record shows the superior court considered each phase [of the litigation below] and made a deliberate decision as to the number of hours it reduced" (Id., 13).

It is telling that the Church now argues that the "Trial Court erred by disregarding the Church's [PRA] fee segregation" (Petition, 25); however, when arguing before Division II, the Church argued that the trial court "erred *if* it disregarded the

Church's PRA fee segregation." <u>Decision</u>, 13 [emphasis added]. This change in the Church's argument is yet another example of how the Church has attempted to contort the facts and this record in order to secure a higher and undeserved award of attorney fees. The Church fails to explain how this matter conflicts with <u>Clausen</u>. The Church fails because no reasonable observer can find an inconsistency with <u>Clausen</u> justifying this Court's review under 13.4(b)(1).

4. Church's Argument regarding Fahn

Fahn v. Civil Serv. Com, 95 Wn.2d 679, 628 P.2d 813 (1981), involved a claim brought under WLAD. This case is cited by the Church for the same purposes that it cites to Blair. For the same reasons the Church's reliance on Blair is misplaced (*see* Petition, 10), so is its reliance on Fahn. As stated above and throughout this record, all the citations offered by the Church to "civil rights" cases are inapposite. Further, Judge Chushcoff did not consider the form of the compensation arrangement between the Church and its counsel, and Division II discussed this concept

in order to distinguish the facts below from the precedent relied upon by the Church. As with <u>Blair</u>, the <u>Fahn</u> case does not provide grounds upon which review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

5. Church's Argument regarding Fisher Properties

The Church points to Fisher Properties v. Arden-Mayfair, Inc., 115 Wn.2d 364, 798 P.2d 799 (1990), for the proposition that "a rate adjustment is appropriate in civil rights and other public interest litigation[.]" Petition, 25. Notably, this citation appears under the *Petition*'s Section V(A) regarding multipliers and fee agreements. Petition, 22; 22-25. The Church's reliance on Fisher is misplaced. First, the instant matter did not involve civil rights or other substantial public interests. Second, Fisher did not involve the application of a multiplier. In fact, the Fisher decision affirms the trial court's reduction of the "fee award by 20 percent for time spent outside of trial and by 15 percent for time spent in trial." Id. The "adjustment" discussed in that case was whether the fee should be calculated "using current rates or

adjusting historic rates to account for inflation [which would be designed] to compensate the attorney for delay in payment or the risk of losing and not getting paid at all." <u>Id</u>., at 376. This is an entirely different concept than the Church's requested 1.5 multiplier.

Setting aside the Church's attempt to take this Court's earlier decisions out of context to fabricate support for its position, it is well established that the application of a multiplier is within the trial court's discretion and that multipliers are seldom applied in our State. This is demonstrated by Division I's decision in Berryman v. Metcalf where it was held:

In Washington, adjustments to the lodestar product are reserved for "rare" occasions. Sanders v. State, 169 Wn.2d 827, 869, 240 P.3d 120 (2010); Mahler, 135 Wn.2d at 434. The United States Supreme Court has concluded that enhancement for contingency under fee-shifting statutes is not permitted at all. City of Burlington v. Dague, 505 U.S. 557, 567, 112 S. Ct. 2638, 120 L. Ed. 2d 449 (1992). In discussing Dague, our Supreme Court declined to prohibit contingency enhancements altogether. But our court retains the presumption that "the lodestar represents a reasonable fee." Chuong Van Pham, 159 Wn.2d at 542.

Berryman, 177 Wn.App. 644, 665-666, 312 P.2d 745 (2013). The Berryman decision confirms that the "burden of justifying any deviation from the lodestar rests on the party proposing it" and that "our trial courts grant multipliers sparingly." Id., at 666. Adjustments are applied only in "rare" occasions by the Washington Courts. Sanders v. State, 169 Wn.2d 827, 869, 240 P.3d 120 (2010). It is important to note that there are no published or unpublished cases issued by the Washington State courts wherein a multiplier was applied to an attorney fee award secured pursuant to Chapter 46.60 RCW.²

² The Church has not presented any citation to a case in which a multiplier was applied to a fee award obtained pursuant to RCW 64.40.020. None of the "Notes to Decisions" for RCW 64.40.020 gathered by Lexis Nexis under the heading "Attorney's fees" reflect that a multiplier was applied to the lodestar award issued pursuant to this statute. *See* Landmark Dev., Inc. v. City of Roy, 138 Wn.2d 561, 980 P.2d 1234 (1999); Hamilton v. Pollution Control Hr'gs Bd., 426 P.3d 281, 5 Wn.App.2d 271 (Wash. Ct. App. 2018); Birnbaum v. Pierce County, 167 Wn.1pp. 728, 274 P.3d 1070 (Wash. Ct. App. 2012); Benchmark Land Co. v. City of Battle Ground, 94 Wn.App. 537, 972 P.2d 944 (Wash. Ct. App. 1999); View Ridge Park Assoc. v. Mountlake Terrace, 67 Wn.App. 588, 839 P.2d 343 (Wash. Ct. App. 1992); and, Ivy

C. RAP 13.4(b)(2) is not met by the *Petition*

Despite the Church's best efforts, it has not identified any published decision issued by one of the lower Washington appellate courts that is in direct conflict with the analysis and conclusions offered by Division II below.

1. Church's Arguments regarding Absher Constr. Co.

The Church cites to the published decision from Division I in Absher Constr. Co. v. Kent Sch. Dist., 79 Wn.App. 841, 917 P.2d 1086 (1995), apparently to suggest that if a trial court awards substantially fewer attorney fees than the amount requested, it must "explain why discounts were applied." *See* Petition, 21. There is no inconsistency below in relation to Absher.

As confirmed by the Division II below, the trial court provided explanation as to why discounts were applied. For example, the trial court explained that some of the line items on

Club Investors Ltd. Partnership v. City of Kennewick, 40 Wn.App. 524, 699 P.2d 782 (Wash. Ct. App. 1985).

the Church's fee/cost sheet were "relatively general" and difficult to determine if they were recoverable under Chapter 46.60 RCW (Decision, 25), not all time claimed by the Church's counsel was "reasonably expended" (Id., 14), counsel's hourly fee was "somewhat high for this case" (Id., 15), the facts in the case were "not complicated [...] nor did the case present novel legal issues" (Id.), among other rationale for the reduction in the requested fees. The Church is displeased with the final lodestar award and now complains about the scope of the explanation provided; however, both the trial court and Division II confirm the explanation provided was adequate. There is no direct conflict with Absher justifying this Court's review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2).

2. Church's Arguments regarding Martinez

The Church relies on Martinez v. City of Tacoma, 81 Wn.App. 228, 914 P.2d 86 (1996), from Division II for the proposition that it is entitled to higher fees, as well as a multiplier, because this matter was a "civil rights" case. *See*

Petition, 10, 12, 16-17, 21. The Martinez decision dealt with an attorney fee award in a WLAD case. Martinez, 81 Wn.App. at 230. Again, this Court has already determined that the dispute below was not a "civil rights" issue. Even if this Court is to consider the dispute below as a "civil rights" issue, there is no holding in Martinez that states the prevailing counsel in a civil rights case shall be entitled to all claimed fees, nor is there any holding in Martinez that states the prevailing counsel in a civil rights case shall be entitled to a multiplier. Further, the 1996 Martinez decision cannot overturn and does not conflict with the 2013 Berryman decision, which confirms the following concepts: (1) "A loadstar figure that 'grossly exceeds' the amount in controversy 'should suggest a downward adjustment' even where other subjective factors in the case might tend to imply an upward adjustment" (Berryman, 177 Wn.App. at 661); (2) a lack of "billing judgment" can justify a downward adjustment (Id.); (3) that the "amount of time actually spent by a prevailing attorney is relevant, but not dispositive" for a fee

award (Id.); (4) that it is necessary to "discount for unproductive time" (Id, at 663); (5) that a reasonably attorney award requires consideration of "the attorney's efficiency or 'ability to produce resulting in the minimum time" (Id., at 664); (6) multipliers to the lodestar are "reserved for 'rare" occasions" (Id., at 665); (7) adjustments are rarely made because "in virtually every case the quality of work will be reflected in the reasonable hourly rate" without the need for a multiplier (Id., 667); and, (8) that many "plaintiffs have brought risky contingent-fee cases under remedial statutes installed with public interest, and have endured years of litigation and gone through lengthy and complex trials against aggressive and well-funded opponents, and yet their attorneys have not been granted multipliers" (Id., 675). Martinez is a decision in a case with causes of action and subject matter distinguished from those in the case before this Court. Further, Martinez is almost three decades old and the case law that has been developed since Martinez supports the trial court's discretion to adjust the Church's requested fees down and to deny

a multiplier. See e.g., <u>Berryman</u>, supra. <u>Martinez</u> does not provide grounds for review of this matter under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

3. Church's Arguments regarding Mayer

Mayer v. City of Seattle, 102 Wn.App. 66, 10 P.3d 408 (2000), from Division I, is cited to by the Church in support of its claim that the trial court erred in holding that it is not required that the trial court "go through six or seven years' worth of billings on an oral record." Petition, 27. Mayer did not hold that the Court must review every line item on a cost bill; instead, the Mayer decision concludes with the following:

we reverse and remand the MTCA attorney fee award. On remand, the trial court may not award fees for effort spent discovering the cross-appellants' relative fault. Further, the trial court is not limited by the terms of the contingent fee agreement between Mayer and his attorneys. Finally, the court must make thorough findings on the cross-appellants' challenges to specific time entries.

Mayer, 102 Wn.App. at 83.

Even though the 2000 Mayer decision does not stand for the proposition suggested by the Church, it is important to note

that Mayer was clarified by the subsequent 2006 decision in Taliesen Corp. v. Razore Land Co., 144 P.3d 1185, 135 Wn.App. 106 (Wash.App. 2006). Taliesen held that the "findings needed for meaningful review do not ordinarily require such details as an explicit hour-by-hour analysis of each lawyer's time sheets." Taliesen, 144 P.3d at 143.

<u>Mayer</u> confirms that a trial court "may adjust the lodestar fee upward or downward based" based on consideration of various factors (102 Wn.App. at 79); <u>Mayer</u> does not require line-by-line analysis of the prevailing party's time sheets, and <u>Mayer</u> did not involve the application of a multiplier. <u>Mayer</u> does not support review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2).

4. Church's Arguments regarding Perry

Perry v. Costco Wholesale, Inc., 123 Wn.App. 783, 98 P.3d 783 (2004), from Division I, involves a claim brought under WLAD. The Church cites to this case in support of its repetitive claim that it is entitled to a higher attorney fee award because the matter below was a "civil rights" case. *See* Petition, 18-19. The

<u>Perry</u> decision confirms "The lodestar <u>may</u> be adjusted, if appropriate to reflect either the contingent nature of the representation or the quality of the representation, provided those factors have not already been factored into the lodestar amount." <u>Perry</u>, 123 Wn.App. at 808 [emphasis added].

Division I remanded the trial court's refusal to apply a multiplier in Perry because the "trial court appears to have concluded that Perry satisfied the necessary factors for a multiplier, but declined to award one based solely on considerations of proportionality. This was improper for this type of case." Perry, 123 Wn.App. at 809. The decision to remand that issue in Perry was appropriate because that trial court considered an "irrelevant factor" in relation to the multiplier. See Chuong v. Van Pham v. Seattle City Light, 159 Wn.2d 527, 543, 151 P.3d 976 (2007) ("we have held that the trial court abuses its discretion when it takes irrelevant factors into account" when determining if a multiplier should be applied to the lodestar). At no point below has the Church identified any "irrelevant factor"

considered by the trial court in declining to apply a multiplier. The application of a multiplier remains in the trial court's discretion, as long as it does not consider irrelevant factors. Chuong, at 543-44.

Setting aside that the facts of <u>Perry</u> are entirely distinguishable from those in the case presently before this Court, there is no conflict below with <u>Perry</u>. Review is not justified pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2).

5. Church's Arguments regarding Taliesen Corp.

Taliesen Corp. v. Razore Land Co., 135 Wn.App. 106, 144 P.3d 1185 (2006), is a Division I case involving litigation of claims under the Model Toxics Control Act. The Church cites to Taliesen for the same purposes of Absher (supra) – i.e., that the trial court did not do enough to explain "how the court arrived at the final numbers and explain why discounts were applied" (Petition, 21). Taliesen confirms that fee awards do not require "such details as an explicit hour-by-hour analysis of each lawyer's time sheets," Taliesen, 144 P.3d at 143, but a "trial court

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